I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW 

 

 Bisir Bilal Muhammad requests this Court grant review pursuant to 

RAP 13.4 of the published decision of the Court of Appeals in State v. 

Muhammad, No. 34233-6-III, filed June 7, 2018.
1
 A copy of the opinion is 

attached as Appendix A.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does Petitioner have a reasonable expectation of privacy under 

article 1, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment in the transmissions 

between his cell phone and cell towers—i.e., the “pings”—such that police 

were required to obtain a warrant before obtaining real-time coordinates 

derived from those “pings” from AT&T? RAP 13.4(3), (4). 

 

(a) Does the court of appeals’ conclusion that exigent 

circumstances justified the warrantless “pinging” of Petitioner’s 

cell phone to obtain his real-time location violate established law? 

RAP 13.4(1), (2). 

 

2. The United States Supreme Court and Washington Supreme 

Court have held that the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment 

prohibits convictions for a qualifying crime and felony murder predicated 

on that crime.  

 

(a) Does entry of convictions for rape and felony murder predicated 

on rape violate double jeopardy? RAP 13.4(1), (2), (3). 

 

(b) Does the separate sentence imposed for the predicate crime of 

rape merge into the felony murder where the two crimes were 

alleged to be for the same acts? RAP 13.4(1), (2), (4). 

 

                                                 
1
 The current online version is found at State v. Bisir Bilal Muhammad, __ Wn. App. __, 

419 P.3d 419 (2018). 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
2
 

On November 7, 2014, a nude body later identified as 69-year-old 

Ina Clare Richardson was discovered next to an access road to a park in 

Clarkston, Washington. Evidence indicated a sexual assault had taken 

place and the potential homicide may have occurred elsewhere. CP 72, 85–

88; RP 265–66, 286–91, 304–05, 308–11, 314–15, 324–25, 331, 333.   

Ms. Richardson was last seen the prior evening leaving the 

Albertsons store in Clarkston. CP 73–74, 94; RP 263, 270, 276–77, 331–

32, 334–35, 545–46, 569–70, 794–95. Police initiated a stop of a 

distinctive car similar to one seen during the same time frame in the 

store’s parking lot video surveillance tape. The driver, Bisir Bilal 

Muhammad, gave the officer some information and was released and 

drove away. CP 94, 101–02; RP 334–36. 

Based on Mr. Muhammad’s statements and other information, 

review of Walmart and Quality Inn surveillance tapes showing the car was 

seen in those places at the relevant times, and an autopsy finding 

confirming homicide by strangulation, police applied for a vehicle search 

warrant of Muhammad’s car and sent an officer back to keep the car under 

surveillance. CP 95, 102, 104–05; RP 464, 471–43. After leaving his post 

                                                 
2
 More detailed discussion of facts regarding the incident is contained in Petitioner’s Brief 

of Appellant in the court of appeals (“AOB”) at 3–8. 
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for an unknown reason and amount of time, the officer returned to find the 

car was no longer at Muhammad’s home. Police requested “pings” from 

his phone company and located the car in the nearby Lewiston Orchards 

area of Lewiston, Idaho. CP 90–91, 102–03, 105; RP 338. 

Relevant surveillance videos placed the car in the Albertsons 

parking lot and driven to an access road behind Quality Inn, where it 

stayed for about an hour before leaving. RP 361, 367–69, 376, 383–85, 

392–95, 407–08, 429–34, 453, 517, 519–21, 544. Search of the car yielded 

evidence connecting it to the area in back of the inn and to Ms. 

Richardson’s presence. RP 490, 492, 497–99, 502, 504, 508, 657–59. 

Search of Muhammad’s cell phone produced evidence of usage coinciding 

with his alleged whereabouts on the night in question.  RP 681–83. 

Petitioner was charged with and convicted of first degree felony 

murder and first degree rape after a jury trial in Asotin County. CP 22–23, 

383, 395. The jury found he knew or should have known the victim was 

particularly vulnerable. CP 396–97. The jury found he inflicted serious 

physical injury on Ms. Richardson during the rape but could not agree 

whether he kidnapped her.  CP 398–99. The Honorable Scott D. Gallina 

imposed an exceptional sentence of consecutive terms totaling a minimum 

of 866 months. CP 576. Petitioner appealed and on June 7, 2018, Division 
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Three of the court of appeals affirmed in a published opinion. See App. A. 

Additional relevant facts are contained in the argument section below. 

IV. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW  

 1. This Court should grant review to determine whether the 

warrantless search of transmissions between a cell phone and cell 

towers to obtain real-time location information violates a user’s 

reasonable expectation of privacy under the state and federal 

constitutions and whether the court of appeals’ conclusion that 

exigent circumstances justified the warrantless “pinging” violates 

established law. 

 

Division Three declined to “decide the important question of 

whether a warrantless employment of a cell phone ping infringes on the 

phone owner’s privacy rights under article I, section 7 of the Washington 

State Constitution” and “instead affirm[ed] the trial court’s ruling that 

exigent circumstances warranted the ping.” Slip Op. at 15–18.  

The privacy rights of a Washington citizen in his physical location 

in the digital age of cell-phones poses a significant question of 

constitutional law and is of substantial public interest, warranting review 

by this Court.  RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4); see, e.g., Carpenter v. United States, 

585 U.S. __ (No. 16-402, June 22, 2018) (under the Fourth Amendment, 

police need a search warrant to obtain historical cell-site location 

information (“CSLI”)). Muhammad hereby incorporates his argument 

made below that the use of cell phone “pings” to obtain his real-time 
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location in Idaho was an illegal search in violation of article 1 section 7, 

the Fourth Amendment, and state law. App. B, AOB at pp. 19–33, 43–44. 

Apparently conceding a search warrant was required under the 

Fourth Amendment, Division Three concluded exigent circumstances 

excused the warrant requirement. Slip Op. at 15. This conclusion violates 

established law.  Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). 

Exigent circumstances exist to excuse the warrant requirement if 

demand for immediate investigatory action makes it impracticable for the 

police to obtain a warrant. State v. Cardenas, 146 Wn.2d 400, 405, 47 

P.3d 127, 57 P.3d 1156 (2002). Danger to the public or the possibility that 

a suspect may escape can constitute an exigent circumstance. State v. 

Counts, 99 Wn.2d 54, 60, 659 P.2d 1087 (1983). To determine if exigent 

circumstances exist, the court considers six factors: (1) the gravity of the 

offense, and whether (2) the suspect is reasonably believed to be armed or 

(3) there is reasonably trustworthy information of the suspect's guilt or (4) 

there is a strong reason to believe the suspect is on the premises or (5) the 

suspect is likely to escape if not apprehended, and (6) whether the entry is 

made peaceably. Cardenas, 146 Wn.2d at 406. While all factors need not 

be present to establish exigency, in the aggregate, the articulated factors 

must establish the need to act quickly. State v. Patterson, 112 Wn.2d 731, 
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736, 774 P.2d 10 (1989). A court must look to the totality of the 

circumstances in determining whether exigent circumstances exist. State v. 

Smith, 165 Wn.2d 511, 518, 199 P.3d 386 (2009). 

To prove that exigent circumstances are present, the State must 

“point to specific, articulable facts and the reasonable inferences therefrom 

which justify the intrusion.”  State v. Diana, 24 Wn. App. 908, 911, 604 

P.2d 1312 (1979). The mere possibility of escape or mere suspicion that a 

suspect will destroy evidence is not sufficient to satisfy the “particularity” 

requirement. State v. Coyle, 95 Wn. 2d 1, 9, 621 P.2d 1256, 1260–61 

(1980) (citations omitted). Thus, the particularity requirement must 

generally be satisfied in either of two ways: (1) police have specific prior 

information that a suspect has resolved to act in a manner which would 

create an exigency, or he has made specific preparations to act in such a 

manner, or (2) police are confronted with some sort of contemporaneous 

sound or activity alerting them to the possible presence of an exigent 

circumstance. Coyle, 95 Wn.2d at 10 (citations omitted).  

Considering the relevant factors in determining an exigency, the 

State has not shown that exigent circumstances justified the warrantless 

search of Muhammad’s cell phone to obtain location information. The 
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situation in this case stands in sharp contrast to other situations in which 

courts have held exigent circumstances to exist.  

In State v. Patterson, exigent circumstances justified entry into a 

parked vehicle where a burglary had very recently been committed, the 

suspect was likely in the immediate vicinity of the vehicle because the 

officers discovered the vehicle a mere five minutes after the robbery, 

information in the automobile could help identify and locate the suspect, 

and a delay in searching the vehicle could have allowed the suspect to flee 

the area. 112 Wn.2d at 735–36. Similarly, exigencies in Smith were found 

where there was a tanker truck filled with 1,000 gallons of a dangerous 

chemical parked next to a house, a rifle had been seen in the house, the 

rifle was then discovered missing, and the two known occupants of the 

house did not possess the rifle. 165 Wn.23 at 518. 

Likewise, in Com. v. Rushing, the appellant had just committed a 

triple homicide, was armed and dangerous, and had indicated he intended 

to continue his crime spree. Exigent circumstances existed because “[t]he 

seriousness of Appellant’s crimes cannot be understated, he was armed, 

police had probable cause to arrest him, and he was a danger to others. … 

As both probable cause and exigent circumstances were present, the 

Commonwealth acted within its constitutional bounds in obtaining the 
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real-time cell site information after receiving a court order from the trial 

court.” 2013 PA Super 162, 71 A.3d 939, 965–66 (2013), rev'd on other 

grounds, 627 Pa. 59, 99 A.3d 416 (2014). In Riley v. California, holding 

the search incident to arrest exception does not apply to cell phones, the 

court noted the exigent circumstances exception to the Fourth 

Amendment’s warrant requirement could be available for the “extreme 

hypotheticals” posited by the government, such as a bomb that is about to 

detonate or a child abductor whose cell phone shows the child’s location. 

The “critical point” was that the trial court would be able to examine the 

circumstances “in each particular case” to determine whether there was an 

emergency justification for a warrantless search. __U.S. __, 134 S.Ct. 

2473, 2494, 189 L.Ed.2d 430 (2014). 

The facts of the above cases and reasonable inferences therefrom 

have in common the closeness in time between the crime and the 

warrantless search, and articulated details of immediacy of the risks of 

harm or flight or destruction of evidence.  

Here, when the “ping” was requested three days after the crime 

scene was discovered, the crime was over and completed. Muhammad had 

obviously not fled because he was pulled over by Officer Boyd that 

morning prior to the “ping” request. Although the officer earlier asked if 
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he’d been in the Albertsons parking lot and whether he’d seen a crime, no 

mention was made of a homicide, and Muhammad was left to go on his 

way after the stop. CP 102. Officer Boyd articulated no facts suggesting 

risk of harm, flight or destruction of evidence. See id. 

Officer Boyd reported to his superiors. CP 102. New information 

was obtained about Muhammad’s sex offender level status and out-of-state 

criminal history. CP 105. While other personnel applied for a search 

warrant for the vehicle, the officer was sent to Muhammad’s house to 

conduct surveillance of the car. CP 95, 104–05. He saw Muhammad and a 

female get into the car, go to Walmart and return to his house, and saw 

Muhammad move the car to park in back of the complex. CP 102. These 

specific and innocent facts do not suggest risk of harm to others, flight or 

destruction of evidence.  

Officer Boyd then “left for another reason [and an unknown 

amount of time] and when I came back the car was gone.” CP 102. Det. 

Muszynski returned to the police station with the vehicle search warrant in 

hand, only to find the present location of the vehicle was not known. CP 

105. Around this time the autopsy results came in, finding that the death 

was a homicide. CP 102. Based on this accumulating information, Officer 

Boyd requested the warrantless “ping” of Muhammad’s cell phone to 
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determine his real-time location as “he was no place in Clarkston to be 

found.” CP 102. These additional bare facts similarly do not present the 

exigent circumstances of imminent destruction of evidence or flight or that 

“other persons’ lives may be in danger.”   

The exigent circumstances cannot be created by the police 

themselves. State v. Hall, 53 Wn. App. 296, 303, 766 P.2d 512, 517 

(1989) (citing to United States v. Rosselli, 506 F.2d 627, 629–30 (7th 

Cir.1974) (where police observed drug deliveries made to two apartments, 

if the risk of a warning call created an apparent emergency, it would have 

been avoided by leaving an agent with Miss Ackley and the Anderson 

children in the arrestee’s apartment while a warrant was being secured to 

search the other apartment)). Officer Boyd was sent to keep an eye on the 

vehicle and was aware his fellow officers were in the process of obtaining 

a warrant to search it. If immediacy of destruction, flight or harm to others 

were truly feared, a prudent officer would have called for back-up 

assistance before leaving sight of the vehicle. 

A court must be satisfied that the invocation of exigency is not 

simply a pretext for conducting an impermissible search. Smith, 165 

Wn.2d at 523 (citing State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 356, 979 P.2d 833 

1999). Police may not invoke an exception as pretext to an evidentiary 
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search. Id. (citing State v. Lawson, 135 Wn. App. 430, 435–36, 144 P.3d 

377 (2006)). Police had no probable cause to arrest Muhammad. The 

stated reason for wanting to continue gathering evidence was because he 

had “become a person of interest” and “needed to be interviewed in 

detail.” CP 102–03. An officer’s action in leaving surveillance of the car 

with no replacement is inconsistent with the stated purpose of preventing 

imminent harm, flight or destruction of evidence. Claiming exigency 

necessitated the warrantless search of Muhammad’s cell phone to locate 

him was merely pretext to allow investigation to be resumed as quickly as 

possible. 

Nor did the State establish that obtaining a warrant was otherwise 

impracticable. If time was of the essence, police can seek an immediate 

telephonic warrant. CrR 3.2(c); State v. Komoto, 40 Wn. App. 200, 214, 

697 P.2d 1025 (1985) (availability of telephonic warrant factor in 

assessing exigent circumstances); see also RCW 9.73.260(6) (providing 

for an emergency court order). For example, we do not know whether 

Officer Boyd could have used a cell phone or radio to procure a telephonic 

warrant. The record contains no evidence of what he would have had to do 
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to procure a warrant at the time of the intrusion into the cell phone data. 

See State v. Tibbles, 169 Wn.2d 364, 371, 236 P.3d 885, 889 (2010).
 3

 

In sum, the mere possibility or suspicion of risk of flight or danger 

or destruction of evidence is insufficient to establish exigent 

circumstances. Coyle, 95 Wn. 2d at 9. Expediency is similarly insufficient 

even where police had obtained a search warrant for Muhammad’s car. 

“[W]hatever relative convenience to law enforcement may [result] from 

forgoing the burden of seeking a warrant once probable cause to search 

arises in circumstances such as here, we adhere to the view that ‘mere 

convenience is simply not enough.’ ” Tibbles, 169 Wn.2d at 372 (citing 

Patterson, 112 Wn.2d at 734). The State did not satisfy the exigent 

circumstances exception to the warrant requirement because it did not 

prove the imperative of a warrantless search, including the unavailability 

of a telephonic warrant in the circumstances of this particular case. Smith, 

165 Wn.2d at 518. 

2. Review should also be granted to resolve conflicting 

authority whether entry of convictions and separate sentencings for 

                                                 
3
 It appears law enforcement officers did see the need to obtain a search warrant after the 

fact.  On November 12, 2014, a search warrant was obtained for Muhammad’s location 

information records from AT&T.  CP 77–84.  The application for search warrant and 

resulting search warrant were obtained within minutes of each other.  Id.  Similarly the 

November 11, 2014, application for search warrant of Muhammad’s cell phone (now in 

police possession) and resulting search warrant were obtained within minutes of each 

other.  CP 153–61. 
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rape and felony murder predicated on rape violate the Fifth 

Amendment prohibition on double jeopardy and merger doctrine. 

 

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(4) 

because the decision below highlights conflicts with decisions of this 

Court and the Court of Appeals in interpreting constitutional principles. 

“[M]any decisions support the State’s arguments and numerous decisions 

corroborate [Petitioner’s] contrary arguments, such that this court would 

stand on firm foundation in ruling in favor of either party .… We conclude 

… that [the convictions] do not offend double jeopardy because the 

murder did not necessarily follow from the rape and the murder statutes 

and rape statutes serve diverse purposes” and because the crimes “had 

independent purposes and effects…. the two crimes may be punished 

separately.” Slip Op. at 19, 35. 

“No person shall ... be subject for the same offense to be twice put 

in jeopardy of life or limb….” U.S. Const. amend. V. Similarly, "[n]o 

person shall be ... twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." Const. art. I, 

§9. To determine whether multiple convictions violate double jeopardy, 

courts apply the "same evidence" test. State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 777, 

888 P2.d 155 (1995) (citing Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 

304, 76 L.Ed. 306, 52 S.Ct. 180 (1932)). Under that test, absent clear 

legislative intent to the contrary, two convictions violate double jeopardy 
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when the evidence required to support a conviction on one charge would 

have been sufficient to warrant a conviction upon the other. Id.; State v. 

Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 772, 777, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). Prosecutors 

may not "divide a defendant's conduct into segments in order to obtain 

multiple convictions." State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 749, 132 P3.d 

136 (2007). If the prosecution has to prove one crime in order to prove the 

other, entering convictions for both crimes violates double jeopardy. Id. 

In light of the above rules, the United States Supreme Court and 

this Court have recognized that entering convictions for both felony 

murder and the underlying felony violates the Fifth Amendment right to be 

free from double jeopardy. Harris v. Oklahoma, 433 U.S. 682, 97 S.Ct. 

2912, 53 L.Ed.2d 1054 (1977); In re the Personal Restraint of Francis, 

170 Wn.2d 517, 522 n.2, 242 P.3d 866 (2010); In re the Personal 

Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 818, 100 P.3d 291 (2004) (citing 

Harris, 433 U.S. 682). This is so because "t[o] convict a defendant of 

felony murder the State is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

each element of the predicate felony." State v. Quillin, 49 Wn. App. 155, 

164, 741 P.2d 589 (1987). It is impossible to commit felony murder 

without committing the underlying felony, and entering convictions for 

both violates double jeopardy. See Jackman, 156 Wn.2d at 749. 
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The Court of Appeals, this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have 

all required that convictions be vacated for double jeopardy violations in 

similar circumstances. See e.g., State v. Williams, 131 Wn. App. 488, 491–

92, 128 P.3d 98 (2006) (reversing an attempted robbery conviction 

because it “merged into the felony murder because it was the predicate 

offense"); State v. Fagundes, 26 Wn. App. 477, 485–86, 614 P.2d 198 

(1980) (vacating predicate felonies of first-degree kidnapping and first-

degree rape because proof of the underlying felonies provided essential 

elements of the first-degree murder); State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 

647,656, 160 P.3d 40 (2007) (Where the defendant was convicted of 

homicide by abuse, felony murder predicated on assault, and assault, this 

Court ordered the latter two convictions vacated. Only one of the first two 

convictions could be sustained because there was only one homicide, and 

the assault conviction could not stand because "Womac could not have 

committed felony murder in the second degree without committing assault 

in the first degree"); Harris, 433 U.S. 682 (holding the Fifth Amendment 

prohibited the defendant's conviction for robbery following a conviction 

for felony murder predicated on robbery); Whalen v. United States, 445 

U.S. 684, 693–94, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980) (vacating the 

predicate rape conviction because a “conviction for killing in the course of 
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a rape cannot be had without proving all of the elements of the offense of 

rape”). 

The same is true here. Muhammad could not have committed 

felony murder without also committing the underlying rape. Quillin, 49 

Wn. App. at 164; Williams, 131 Wn. App. at 498–99; Fagundes, 26 Wn.

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