FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2018 2:17 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 96090-9 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 34233-6-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BISIR MILAL MUHAMMAD,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BENJAMIN NICHOLS Asotin County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> Asotin County Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 220 Asotin, Washington 99402 (509) 243-2061 FAX (509) 243-2090

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If this Court accepts review of this case, the State seeks crossreview of the following additional issues the State raised in the Court of Appeals, which were either not reached by the Court or were decided adversely to the State:

1. The Court of Appeals concluded that the cell phone "ping" used to locate the suspect in order to execute a search warrant for his car was a warrantless search under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 of Washington's constitution that was justified by exigent circumstances. As an alternative ground to affirm, the State renews its argument that the exclusionary rule does not apply because officers did not exploit the allegedly unlawful "ping" to search the car; rather, the search of the car was independently authorized by a search warrant supported by probable cause. Any connection between the "ping" and the search of the vehicle was sufficiently attenuated to dissipate any taint, so the trial court properly admitted the evidence from the car. 2. In concluding that the cell phone "ping" was justified by exigent circumstances, the Court of Appeals declined to reach the State's argument that any error in admitting evidence seized from Muhammad's car was harmless in view of the overwhelming untainted evidence of guilt. The State renews this argument as an alternative ground to affirm the trial court.

3. The Court of Appeals concluded that Muhammad's separate convictions for first-degree rape and first-degree felony murder predicated on rape do not violate double jeopardy and do not merge for sentencing purposes because the rape and murder statutes serve discrete goals and the victim in this case sustained injuries from the rape that were distinct from and unnecessary to the murder by strangulation. Despite affirming the two convictions, the court rejected the State's argument that first-degree rape and first-degree felony murder based on rape are not the same in law and fact because rape requires evidence of a completed rape, while the murder statute only requires an attempt to rape. The State renews this argument as an alternative ground to affirm the trial court.

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The defendant, Bisir Bilal Muhammad, was convicted of firstdegree felony murder and first-degree rape. RP 893; CP 352, 395. The relevant facts are set forth in the unanimous published opinion of the

- 2 -

Court of Appeals, Division III, which affirmed Muhammad's convictions. <u>State v. Muhammad</u>, No. 34233-6-III, ___ WL ____ (June 7, 2018).

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the issues raised by Muhammad in his petition for review, which are limited to whether the warrantless cell phone ping was justified by exigent circumstances and whether separate convictions for rape and murder predicated on rape violate the double jeopardy or merger principles of the Due Process Clause. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of corresponding issues it raised in the Court of Appeals but that the court's decision rejected or did not address. RAP 13.4(d). The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review, and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the alternative arguments raised by the State in the Court of Appeals, which are consistent with existing law. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). Those arguments are summarized below and set forth more fully in the briefing in the Court of Appeals.

- 3 -

1. THE CELL PHONE "PING" DOES NOT REQUIRE SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE FOUND IN THE LAWFUL SEARCH OF MUHAMMAD'S CAR.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the warrantless ping of Muhammad's cell phone was justified by exigent circumstances. <u>Muhammad</u>, No. 34233-6-III, slip op. at 16-18. If this Court grants review on that issue, the State cross-petitions to preserve its arguments that (1) evidence seized from Muhammad's car need not be suppressed because it was not obtained by exploitation of unlawful government conduct, and was sufficiently attenuated from any unlawful conduct that the exclusionary rule does not apply, and (2) the overwhelming untainted evidence renders any evidentiary error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

First, because the "fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine' does not operate on a 'but for' basis," the exclusionary rule requires more than a causal connection between the unlawful police conduct and the seizure of the evidence at issue. <u>State v. Eserjose</u>, 171 Wn.2d 907, 926, 259 P.3d 172 (2011). Where the seizure stems not from "exploitation of that illegality," but from "means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint," the exclusionary rule does not apply. <u>Wong Sun v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 371 U.S. 471, 488, 83 S. Ct. 407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963). Here, the rule does not apply because the search of Muhammad's car did not stem from the warrantless cell phone ping; it stemmed from a valid search warrant based on probable cause. That warrant—which did not rely in any way on the subsequently-conducted ping—constitutes "means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint" such that the evidence obtained from Muhammad's car need not be suppressed. <u>See</u> Wong Sun, 371 U.S. at 488.

Closely related to the causation required to trigger the exclusionary rule is the attenuation doctrine. The attenuation doctrine requires consideration of such things as (1) the temporal proximity of the illegality and the recovery of the evidence; (2) the presence of intervening circumstances, and (3) the purpose and flagrancy of the official misconduct. Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590, 603-04, 95 S. Ct. 2254, 45 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1975). Here, while the seizure of the car occurred shortly after the warrantless ping, the seizure was already authorized by a valid search warrant supported by probable cause entirely independent of the ping. The purpose of the ping was simply to find the car to enable execution of the warrant. Further, the ping itself can hardly be called flagrant misconduct—the minimal intrusion revealed nothing but the approximate location of the phone at one point in time. The ping revealed none of the phone's content and did not interfere with Muhammad's ability to use or move the phone. Under the attenuation doctrine,

expressly adopted by a plurality of this Court in <u>State v. Eserjose</u>, 171 Wn.2d 907, 919-20, 259 P.3d 172 (2011), the search of Muhammad's car was sufficiently attenuated from the warrantless ping as to preclude application of the exclusionary rule.

Second, even if the evidence seized from Muhammad's car should have been suppressed, the failure to do so was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of the overwhelming untainted evidence of his guilt.

Although the failure to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 is presumed prejudicial, reversal is not required where the State can show that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996); <u>State v. McReynolds</u>, 117 Wn. App. 309, 326, 71 P.3d 663 (2003). Constitutional error is harmless when the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. <u>Chapman v.</u> <u>California</u>, 286 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967); <u>State v. Guloy</u>, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). "Under the 'overwhelming untainted evidence' test, the appellate court looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." <u>Guloy</u>, 104 Wn.2d at 426.

The evidence at issue here includes the victim's blood on the passenger seat and headrest of Muhammad's car and a box of condoms with the same lot number as a condom wrapper found at the scene. <u>Muhammad</u>, slip op. at 8. While this is compelling evidence of guilt, the remaining untainted evidence that Muhammad raped and killed Ina Clare Richardson is overwhelming.

Muhammad's activities on the night of November 6-7, 2014, were well documented by several security cameras in the area. He clocked out from his dishwashing job at Quality Inn at 10:15 p.m. RP 377. From there, he drove to the far end of the Walmart parking lot, where he lurked, never emerging, for about 30 minutes. RP 358, 367-68, 399. At 10:42 p.m., Muhammad left the Walmart parking lot, and at 10:45 p.m., he entered the Albertsons parking lot, where he again parked far from the store, near the McDonald's, and remained in his car for a considerable length of time. RP 335, 399, 544.

Ms. Richardson left Albertsons at 11:06 p.m., lingered in front of the store for a minute, and then walked through the parking lot toward Muhammad's car and the McDonald's. RP 516, 544, 809. The Albertsons security video skips ahead a few seconds, after which it shows

Muhammad's headlights come on. RP 809-10. A few minutes later, at 11:20 p.m., Muhammad's car starts to move through the parking lot. RP 544, 810. A different camera then shows the car drive by Costco, now with two people inside it. RP 562, 810. From there, the car drove to an isolated area behind the Quality Inn, where it remained for over an hour. RP 510-11, 517, 811. At 12:35 a.m., Muhammad's car drove away. RP 811.

In addition to showing Ms. Richardson walking toward Muhammad's car right before his car drove away, the video evidence is significant because it demonstrates that Muhammad repeatedly lied to police during his interview. RP 344-422, 508-21. Muhammad told police that he went straight home after work; that if he had instead gone to Walmart, he went inside and unsuccessfully tried to cash a check; that if he instead stayed in his car, he could not say why; that he was not in the Albertsons parking lot, but if he was, it was because he was visiting his friend Mike; and that he went home from the Albertsons parking lot. Additionally, Albertsons security video established that Muhammad had spoken to Ms. Richardson privately at some length on at least two occasions while he was working at Albertsons, contradicting Muhammad's claim that he had only spoken to her once, in a group. RP 426-35. One of the videos shows that the two had a conversation around

- 8 -

midnight on October 30-31, just a week before Ms. Richardson was raped and killed, during which it appears that Muhammad attempted to kiss Ms. Richardson and that she backed away in response. RP 432-34. Muhammad's demonstrably deceptive statements during his interview are powerful evidence of his guilt.

Even more compelling was the evidence recovered from Ms. Richardson's body. In addition to evidence of rape, strangulation, and myriad other physical injuries indicating that she struggled with her attacker, DNA consistent with Muhammad's profile was found in her vagina and under her fingernails. RP 311, 315, 620, 628. Although there was no semen present in Ms. Richardson's vagina, a forensic scientist testified that is consistent with the use of a condom. RP 621-22. A condom wrapper was found in the isolated area behind the Quality Inn. RP 511. And when Muhammad got home that night, unusually late and with blood on his clothes, he threw away a used condom and claimed it was something else. RP 785-86.

The evidence of Muhammad's guilt is overwhelming, even without the additional evidence of Ms. Richardson's blood in his car and the box of condoms matching the wrapper found behind the Quality Inn. Accordingly, any error in admitting the evidence from Muhammad's car is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, furnishing alternative grounds on which this Court may affirm.

2. MUHAMMAD'S CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH FELONY MURDER AND RAPE DO NOT MERGE AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

The Court of Appeals rejected Muhammad's claims that the separate convictions for first-degree rape and first-degree murder predicated on rape violate double jeopardy and/or should have merged for sentencing purposes. <u>Muhammad</u>, No. 34233-6-III, slip op. at 7. Though it affirmed and found no error, the court expressly rejected the State's argument on that point. If this Court grants review in this case, the State cross-petitions to preserve its contention that first-degree rape and first-degree felony murder predicated on rape are not the same in fact and law, and therefore do not violate the due process principles of double jeopardy or merger.

Article I, section 9 of the Washington State Constitution and the Fifth Amendment to the federal constitution prohibit multiple punishments for the same offense. <u>State v. Gocken</u>, 127 Wn.2d 95, 100, 896 P.2d 1267 (1995). But a trial court's imposition of more than one punishment for a criminal act that violates more than one criminal statute does not necessarily constitute multiple punishments for a single offense. <u>State v.</u> Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). Whether multiple punishments constitute double jeopardy is a legal question reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Daniels</u>, 160 Wn.2d 256, 261, 156 P.3d 905 (2007).

The fundamental issue is whether the legislature intended to authorize multiple punishments for criminal conduct that violates more than one statute. <u>Calle</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 776. Where the statutory language does not clearly resolve the issue, courts apply the <u>Blockburger</u>¹ "same evidence" test to determine whether the two offenses are the same in law and fact. <u>State v. Freeman</u>, 153 Wn.2d 765, 776-77, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). "If each offense requires proof of an element not required in the other, where proof of one does not necessarily prove the other, the offenses are not the same and multiple convictions are permitted." <u>State v. Louis</u>, 155 Wn.2d 565, 569, 120 P.3d 936 (2005).

Rape and felony murder are not the same in law. Felony murder requires the element of death, which is not an element of rape. RCW 9A.32.030. Further, felony murder *does not* require a completed rape. One is guilty of first-degree felony murder when he commits *or attempts* rape in the first- or second-degree, and he (or another person) causes the death of a person "in the course of or in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom." <u>Id.</u> First-degree rape, on the other hand, clearly requires a completed rape. RCW 9A.44.040. Proof of felony

¹ Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S. Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932).

murder does not necessarily prove first-degree rape, and proof of firstdegree rape does not prove felony murder. The offenses are not the same, so "multiple convictions are permitted." <u>Louis</u>, 155 Wn.2d at 569.

Under the merger doctrine, crimes merge when proof of one is necessary to prove an element or the degree of another crime. <u>State v.</u> <u>Vladovic</u>, 99 Wn.2d 413, 419, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). Thus, merger applies only where the legislature has clearly indicated that in order to prove a particular degree of a crime, the State must prove not only that the defendant committed that crime, but that the crime was accompanied by an act that is defined as a crime elsewhere in the criminal statute. <u>Id.</u> at 420-21. Stated another way, if a defendant is convicted of two crimes, the second conviction will stand if that conviction is based on "some injury to the person or property of the victim or others, which is *separate and distinct from and not merely incidental to the crime of which it forms an element.*" <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 92 Wn.2d 671, 680, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979) (emphasis added).

Thus, in <u>State v. Saunders</u>, Division Two of the Court of Appeals held that convictions for felony murder and first-degree rape did not merge where the murder was distinct from and not merely incidental to the rape. 120 Wn. App. 800, 86 P.3d 232 (2004). There, the defendant restrained the victim with handcuffs and leg shackles, attempted to force

1807-19 Muhammad SupCt

- 12 -

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